## **Chemical Methods To Evaluate Antioxidant Ability**

## Zai-Qun Liu\*

Department of Organic Chemistry, College of Chemistry, Jilin University, Changchun 130021, China

### Received September 5, 2009

### Contents

1. Introduction	5675
2. Resources of Oxidants and Radicals	5676
2.1. UV Light	5677
2.2. Metal lons	5677
2.3. <sup>1</sup> O <sub>2</sub>	5677
2.4. <sup>–</sup> OONO	5678
<ol> <li>β-Carotene-Bleaching Test in Linoleic Acid Emulsion</li> </ol>	5678
2.6. <b>°</b> OH	5679
2.7. N <sub>3</sub> •	5679
2.8. Cl <sub>3</sub> COO*	5679
2.9. ABTS <sup>•+</sup>	5680
2.10. DPPH	5680
2.11. Galvinoxyl Radical	5681
<ol> <li>Characterization of the Antioxidant Capacity Based on Chemical Kinetics</li> </ol>	1 5681
3.1. Oxidation of Linoleic Acid Based on Oxygen Exhaustion	5681
3.2. Analysis of Oxidative Products	5682
3.3. Improvement in Chemical Kinetic Deduction	5684
<ol> <li>Applications of Biological Tissues To Inspect Antioxidant Activity</li> </ol>	5685
4.1. Low-Density Lipoprotein	5685
4.2. DNA	5686
4.3. Erythrocytes	5686
5. Other methods	5688
5.1. ESR	5688
5.2. Quantum Calculation	5688
6. Conclusion	5689
7. Abbreviations	5689
8. References	5690

### 1. Introduction

Antioxidants are able to hinder oxidation when only a small amount of them is used. Antioxidants, also called bioantioxidants, attract much attention since aging and degenerative diseases are related to the oxidation of biological components induced by reactive oxygen species (ROS).<sup>1</sup> Recently, aging, cancer, atherosclerosis, and some other serious diseases have been confirmed to correlate with low-density lipoprotein (LDL), cell membranes, and DNA exposed to oxidative stress.<sup>2,3</sup> Supplementations of antioxidants to maintain health and to cure diseases are an important strategy in therapy, called antioxidant therapy.<sup>4</sup> Even dietary foods are able to prevent the occurrence of cancer owing to abundant antioxidants contained in a plant diet.<sup>5</sup> Antioxidants

Zai-Qun Liu (born April 24, 1968, Changchun, China) studied at Jilin University (Changchun, China) from 1986 to 1996 and received his B.Sc. in 1990, M.Sc. in 1993 (major in organic synthesis under microwave irradiation), and Ph.D. in 1996 (major in the template effect of amine on the synthesis of aluminophosphate molecular sieves). He was a Post-doctorate Fellow at Lanzhou University (Lanzhou, China) from 1996 to 1998 and began with research work on antioxidants. He became Associate Professor in 1999 and Professor in 2001 in the Department of Organic Chemistry, College of Chemistry, Jilin University. He has published about 40 papers on antioxidants and 1 textbook on organic chemistry.

are composed of a large amount of enzymatic and nonenzymatic compounds. For example, superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase, and glutathione transferase are enzymatic antioxidants in human plasma and erythrocytes.<sup>6</sup> Nowadays, peroxiredoxin (Prdx1) is found to play an antioxidative role in erythrocytes to defend against tumors.<sup>7</sup> Nonenzymatic antioxidants involve many small molecular organic compounds such as  $\alpha$ -tocopherol (TOH),<sup>8</sup> ascorbic acid,<sup>9</sup> ubiquinol,<sup>10</sup>  $\beta$ -carotene,<sup>11</sup> etc. Organic chemists are mainly concerned with small molecular antioxidants because they can explore the mechanism of these antioxidants to protect biological systems,<sup>12</sup> extract natural compounds from plants to inspect the antioxidant activities,<sup>13</sup> and synthesize antioxidants with novel structures.<sup>14</sup>

ROS involve a series of oxidants such as hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), lipid peroxides (LOOH), singlet oxygen (<sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>), hydroxyl radical (<sup>o</sup>OH), peroxyl radical (ROO<sup>o</sup>), peroxynitrite (<sup>-</sup>OONO), etc.,<sup>15</sup> among which the radicals attract much attention because they can drive carcinogenesis by damaging DNA and proteins<sup>16</sup> and cause cardiovascular diseases by oxidizing LDL.<sup>17</sup> Thus, some works are devoted to investigating the radical-scavenging properties of the presented drugs to enlarge the application of these drugs as antioxidants.<sup>18–20</sup> Other works focus on the extraction of natural compounds from plants to identify the valid ingredients for scavenging radicals.<sup>21–26</sup> These works provide a

<sup>\*</sup> E-mail: zaiqun-liu@jlu.edu.cn.

Scheme 1. Relationship between the Exploration of Antioxidant Capacity and Other Aspects



large amount of antioxidants for further pharmacological research and clarify the antioxidant mechanism for designing novel drugs. In particular, it is necessary for an organic laboratory to set up various convenient methods to test the antioxidant effectiveness of the prepared and extracted compounds since the quantitative structure—activity relation-ship (QSAR) of the antioxidant gives abundant potential for the synthesized or extracted compounds to be antioxidants. The antioxidant activity expressed by chemical indexes leads to a deep understanding of the nutritive effect of diets.<sup>27</sup> In addition, it is of importance for pharmacologists to inspect the antioxidant activities of the known drugs to enlarge the applications. For example, diclofenac, a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug,<sup>28</sup> is able to inhibit oxidation induced by hydroxyl radical.<sup>29</sup>

Many methods have been set up to evaluate the antioxidant effectiveness based on biological experimental materials. For example, the phagocytosis of erythrocytes is increased by diamide-induced oxidation, leading to cross-linking band 3.<sup>30</sup> This experimental system can be used to test whether an antioxidant can hinder this cross-linkage. Lipid peroxidation in LDL induced by 15-lipoxygenase plays an important role in atherogenesis. Thus, 15-lipoxygenase-mediated peroxidation of LDL is an in vitro experimental system to test antioxidant activity.<sup>31</sup> In addition, metal ion-mediated oxidation of lipids<sup>32</sup> and utilization of biological samples as experimental materials<sup>33</sup> are appropriate for mimicking in vivo oxidation. However, it is not very easy for a chemical laboratory to set up these experimental systems with biological characteristics.

A large body of experimental data have been accumulated to describe the kinetic process of radical-induced oxidation, to calculate the bond dissociation energy (BDE) of O-H and N-H in antioxidants, and to measure the redox potential of radicals.34 These results help us to understand the mechanism for an antioxidant to scavenge radicals from a chemical kinetic point of view. Since there is no uniform way to give a definite expression of antioxidant activity, many methods are exploited to test the activity of an antioxidant to avoid shortcomings resulting from a onedimensional evaluation method.<sup>35</sup> The chemical ways to evaluate antioxidant activity are of importance for chemists to get detailed information on the synthesized or extracted antioxidants. Hence, some convenient experimental systems to evaluate antioxidant capacity should be introduced to organic laboratories. Recently, a review has summarized the multifaceted aspects of antioxidants, the kinetic models for autoxidation inhibited by antioxidants, and the chemical principles for determining antioxidant capacities.<sup>36</sup> The treatment of the results from biological samples leads to insights into the antioxidative process within biological samples.37

The aim of this review is not only to sum up some chemical methods for testing antioxidant capacity, but also to introduce some biological materials as experimental materials in evaluating antioxidant capacity chemically. Scheme 1 illustrates the mode for exploring antioxidant capacity. The basis of this pyramid contains four factors. Substrates are compounds that are susceptible to oxidation, and the microenvironment imitates the biological surroundings. For example, linoleic acid (LH) as the substrate is dissolved in the micelles of cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB), sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), or Triton X-100 to mimic polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) located in the cationic, anionic, and neutral microenvironment.<sup>38</sup> In addition to LH as the substrate, some biological materials are also applied as substrates. The cellular membrane and LDL contain many PUFAs and proteins that are subject to oxidative stress.<sup>39,40</sup> DNA is also sensitive to attack from oxidants, leading to the formation of carbonyl species eventually.<sup>41</sup> The applications of erythrocytes, DNA, and LDL combine the substrate with the microenvironment. Meanwhile, treatment of the results from these biological samples with chemical kinetics reveals molecular information on the biological samples. To imitate oxidative stress, radical initiators, UV radiation, metal ions, and other oxidants are applied to initiate the oxidation of chemical agents or biological samples. The oxidative process is followed by various valid methods. As a result, an in vitro experimental system is set up to evaluate the ability of an antioxidant to inhibit oxidation.

### 2. Resources of Oxidants and Radicals

The simplest way to test the ability of an antioxidant is to directly expose the antioxidant to ROS resources such as UV light, metal ions, <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>, <sup>-</sup>OONO, etc. The ability of an antioxidant to scavenge radicals is another topic in the characterization of the antioxidant capacity. The interactions between antioxidants and radicals give direct evidence of the ability of antioxidants to trap radicals. Thus, if some stable radicals or some methods to generate radicals readily are available in an organic laboratory, the radical-scavenging property of the synthesized or extracted compounds can be explored promptly. 'OH can be generated in physical and chemical ways. Azide radical  $(N_3)$  and trichloromethyl peroxyl radical (Cl<sub>3</sub>COO) can be regarded as derivatives of 'OH. 2,2'-Azinobis(3radical ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonate) cationic (ABTS<sup>++</sup>), 2,2'-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), and galvinoxyl radical are stable radicals at room temperature.

### 2.1. UV Light

*trans*-Urocanic acid in the human epidermis generates *cis*urocanic acid under UV light at 200–290 nm as shown in eq 1, which is a model reaction for immunosuppression.<sup>42</sup> The isomers of urocanic acid as well as the byproducts are detected readily by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). Thus, the conversion from *trans*- to *cis*-urocanic acid is an experimental system to test the ability of an antioxidant to hinder UV-induced isomerization. Visible light from a high-pressure mercury lamp (250 W) is able to oxidize human LDL in the presence of diphenyl ketone or disodium 3,3'-disulfodiphenyl ketone as a photosensitizer.<sup>43</sup> Thus, this experimental system connects LDL with photooxidation.



### 2.2. Metal lons

Copper ion  $(Cu^{2+})$  is often used to initiate the oxidation of LDL because, as shown in the following equations,  $Cu^{2+}$ and  $Cu^{+}$  are able to react with the residue hydroperoxide of LH (LOOH) in LDL, resulting in further oxidation of LH to form oxidized LDL containing the peroxyl radical (LOO<sup>•</sup>) or alkoxyl radical (LO<sup>•</sup>) of LH:

$$Cu^{2+} + LOOH \rightarrow Cu^{+} + LOO^{\bullet} + H^{+}$$
 (2)

$$Cu^+ + LOOH \rightarrow Cu^{2+} + LO^{\bullet} + OH^-$$
 (3)

$$Cu^{2+} + LOOH \rightarrow Cu^{3+} + LO^{\bullet} + OH^{-}$$
 (4)

Copper species can also react with oxygen species to form hydroperoxide and hydroxyl radical (**'OH**) as shown in the following equations:

$$Cu^{+} + O_{2} \rightarrow Cu^{2+} + O_{2}^{\bullet^{-}}$$
 (5)

$$Cu^{+} + O_{2}^{\bullet^{-}} + 2H^{+} \rightarrow Cu^{2+} + H_{2}O_{2}$$
 (6)

$$2Cu^{+} + O_2 + 2H^{+} \rightarrow 2Cu^{2+} + H_2O_2$$
 (7)

$$Cu^{+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Cu^{2+} + {}^{\bullet}OH + OH^{-}$$
(8)

The physiological meaning of the aforementioned reactions on the oxidation of LDL has been reviewed.<sup>44</sup> After methyl esters of PUFAs are prepared in the presence of diazomethane at pH 2, 54 products from Cu<sup>2+</sup>-mediated oxidation of human LDL are identified by gas chromatography combined with electron impact mass spectrometry (GC/ MS).<sup>45</sup> Solid-phase microextraction (SPME) is used to extract oxidative products prior to the determination by GC/MS. Scheme 2 outlines the possible process of the oxidation of LH in LDL.<sup>46</sup> Cu<sup>2+</sup> is able to break DNA strand scission in the presence of bleomycin<sup>47</sup> or resveratrol and its analogues.<sup>48</sup> When Cu<sup>2+</sup> is reduced to form Cu<sup>+</sup>, N-H in bleomycin and O-H in resveratrol convert to N- and O-centered radicals, respectively, that are able to damage the DNA strand. The aforementioned methods of metal ion-induced oxidation of biological samples can be used to inspect antioxidant activities since the addition of antioxidants lags the formation of oxidative products from LDL and DNA.

The most convenient method to test the antioxidant activity is to mix the antioxidant with complexes of copper or iron.<sup>49,50</sup> Both Cu(I) and Fe(II) can form a complex with the same ligand, but the  $\lambda_{max}$  of the complex formed by Cu(I) and Fe(II) differs from that with Cu(II) and Fe(III) as shown in Scheme 3. The absorbance of the complexes changes because the antioxidant has the ability to decrease the amount of Cu(II) or Fe(III).

### 2.3. <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>

The spontaneous dismutation of superoxide anion forms singlet oxygen  $({}^{1}O_{2})$ , a major oxidant of biological samples.<sup>51</sup> The guanine in DNA is the preferable site for <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>-induced oxidation, whereas oxidation cannot occur at the deoxyribose moiety.<sup>52</sup> <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub> induces lysis of erythrocytes, monocytes (THP1), and macrophages (J774) when it is derived from the decomposition of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in the presence of hypochlorite and hypobromite.<sup>53</sup> In the process of lysis of the above cells, N-centered radicals are observed by electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) in the presence of 5,5-dimethyl-1-pyrroline N-oxide (DMPO) as a spin labeler to trap radicals. The formation of N-centered radicals may be attributed to the decomposition of chloramines or bromamines within the cell or in the cell membrane. <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub> can be conveniently obtained by light radiation when methylene blue acts as a photosensitizer.<sup>54</sup> Chemical methods to generate <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub> are mainly composed of decomposing  $H_2O_2$  catalyzed by metal ions.<sup>55</sup> In addition to mineral compounds employed to generate  ${}^{1}O_{2}$ , the same concentrations of NaOCl and histidine stimulate the decomposition of  $H_2O_2$  to form  ${}^1O_2$  in sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.1) at 30 °C.<sup>23</sup> The yield of <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub> generated from the above mixture is detected by the decrease of the

### Scheme 2. Oxidative Products in Cu<sup>2+</sup>-Mediated Oxidation of LH in LDL



Scheme 3. Antioxidants Reduce Cu(II) and Fe(III) in the Complexes



Scheme 4. Products of Guanine in DNA Derived from Oxidation by -OONO



absorbance for *N*,*N*-dimethyl-*p*-nitrosoaniline at 440 nm because *N*,*N*-dimethyl-*p*-nitrosoaniline can be bleached in the oxidation of <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>. Some commonly used antioxidants such as Trolox (6-hydroxyl-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid), ascorbate, and amino acid are used to quench <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>.<sup>56</sup> Tetra-*tert*-butylphthalocyanine is employed as a chemiluminescent probe ( $\lambda_{max} = 703$  nm as the emission wavelength) in the interaction between antioxidants and <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>.<sup>57</sup>

### 2.4. - OONO

Hypochlorous acid (HOCl) reacts with nitrite to form peroxynitrite (<sup>-</sup>OONO;  $\lambda_{max} = 302 \text{ nm}$ ,  $\varepsilon = 1670 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$ ) as shown in the following equation:

$$HOCl + NO_2^{-} \rightarrow Cl^{-} + H^{+} + OONO \qquad (9)$$

HOCl can be generated in neutrophils, implicating that the above reaction may take place in vivo. Human LDL is oxidized by a mixture of HOCl and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> (molar ratio 1:1) at a rate of  $(7.4 \pm 1.3) \times 10^3$  M<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> at 25 °C.<sup>58</sup> It has been demonstrated that adenosine and guanosine in DNA are susceptible to <sup>-</sup>OONO.<sup>59</sup> Especially, as shown in Scheme 4, four oxidation products including 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxodG), 2,2-diamino-4-[(2-deoxy- $\beta$ -D-*erythro*-pentafuranosyl)amino]-5(2*H*)-oxazolone (oxazolone), spiroiminodihydantoin, and  $N^1$ -( $\beta$ -D-*erythro*-pentofuranosyl)-5-guanidinohydantoin (guanidinohydantoin) are isolated from the oxidation of guanine in DNA with different dosages of <sup>-</sup>OONO employed.<sup>60</sup>

As shown in eq 10,  $\neg$ OONO is readily obtained by oxidizing isoamyl nitrite with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> under basic conditions with diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DTPA) as the surfactant.<sup>61</sup> In general, NaOH is applied in the preparation of  $\neg$ OONO, so Na<sup>+</sup> is the positive ion in the solution of  $\neg$ OONO. After the organic byproduct isoamyl alcohol is extracted by CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub> or CHCl<sub>3</sub>, and the residue H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is decomposed by flowing through a column filled with MnO<sub>2</sub>,

Scheme 5. Structure of Rhodamine 123



the  $^{-}$ OONO aqueous solution can be preserved for 2–4 weeks at -20 °C. Thus,  $^{-}$ OONO can be used as an oxidant to determine the antioxidant capacity. For example,  $^{-}$ OONO breaks the DNA strand observed by electrophoresis and oxidizes DNA to form 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) and 2'-deoxyguanosine (2'dG) detected by HPLC.<sup>62</sup> However, the concentration of  $^{-}$ OONO formed in cells is too low to be detected directly. Dihydrorhodamine 123, a fluorescent probe, is oxidized by  $^{-}$ OONO to form rhodamine 123 (structure in Scheme 5) with the excitation wavelength at 500 nm and the emission wavelength at 536 nm. Rhodamine 123 generated from the oxidation of dihydrorhodamine 123 by  $^{-}$ OONO is linearly related to the concentration of  $^{-}$ OONO ranging from 0 to 1000 nM.<sup>63</sup>



# 2.5. $\beta$ -Carotene-Bleaching Test in Linoleic Acid Emulsion

The oxidation of LH can be inhibited by  $\beta$ -carotene. An emulsion containing LH and  $\beta$ -carotene is prepared by dissolving  $\beta$ -carotene, LH, and Tween in CHCl<sub>3</sub> first. Then CHCl<sub>3</sub> is evaporated under a stream of N<sub>2</sub>, water is added, and the mixture is shaken vigorously to form an emulsion ( $\lambda_{max} = 470$  nm). The oxygen dissolved in water oxidizes

Scheme 6. Rate Constants of Stilbene Derivatives in Reaction with 'OH and N<sub>3</sub>'



LH, and  $\beta$ -carotene prohibits the oxidation of LH. As a result, the absorbance at 470 nm decreases with increasing time. If the decrease of the absorbance is inhibited by an antioxidant, the antioxidant is regarded to protect LH against autoxidation.<sup>64</sup> This method can even be simplified to only methyl linoleate being employed, in which the conjugated diene formed from the autoxidation of methyl linoleate is followed by measuring the increase of the absorbance at 234 nm.65 Moreover, the Folin-Ciocalteu method is utilized to evaluate the antioxidant effectiveness of total flavonoids colored by 5% NaNO<sub>2</sub> and 10% AlCl<sub>3</sub> in 1 M NaOH aqueous solution, whose maximum wavelength locates at 415 nm.<sup>66</sup> These methods are usually used to test the antioxidant capacity of a mixture extracted from plants. However, these methods just give a relative antioxidant capacity because 2,6di-tert-butyl-4-methoxyphenol (BHT) is employed as a standard antioxidant capacity in this case.<sup>67</sup>

### 2.6. 'OH

'OH is derived from the radiolysis of water with a hydrated electron  $(e_{aq})$ , a H atom, and some ions generated as byproducts.  $e_{aq}^{-}$  converts into 'OH rapidly by reacting with N<sub>2</sub>O. Thus, eq 11 indicates a way to generate 'OH. The antioxidant actions of trans-stilbene derivatives are explored by interacting with 'OH from the radiolysis of water.<sup>68</sup> By means of a chemical experiment, 'OH is generated from the decomposition of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> catalyzed by Fe<sup>2+.69</sup> An antioxidant may chelate  $Fe^{2+}$  before  $Fe^{2+}$  catalyzes  $H_2O_2$  to form 'OH. Thus, it is difficult to identify whether an antioxidant really scavenges 'OH or chelates  $Fe^{2+}$  in the mixture of the Fenton reaction. At present, 'OH is generated in the mixture of  $Fe^{3+}$ -EDTA-H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-deoxyribose in the aqueous phase or tetrachlorohydroquinone $-H_2O_2$  in the organic phase.<sup>70</sup> The applications of these methods to generate 'OH avoid metal ions being chelated by antioxidants.<sup>71</sup>

$$H_{2}O \xrightarrow{\text{radiolysis}} e_{aq}^{-} + \bullet H + H_{3}^{+}O + OH^{\Theta} + \underbrace{\bullet OH}_{-} + H_{2}O_{2}$$

$$N_{2}O - H_{2}O + H_{2}O + OH^{\Theta} - (N_{2} + OH^{\Theta})$$

$$k = 8 \times 10^{9} \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$$

$$pH = 7$$
(11)

### 2.7. N<sub>3</sub>•

As shown as eq 12,  $N_3^{*}$  is derived from the oxidation of  $N_3^{-}$  by 'OH.<sup>72</sup> Both 'OH and  $N_3^{*}$  are powerful oxidants with similar rate constants in oxidizing stilbene derivatives as shown in Scheme 6.<sup>68</sup> As shown in Scheme 7, it is possible for 'OH to add to the benzene ring in resveratrol and to

Scheme 7. Difference of 'OH and  $N_3^{\, {\rm \circ}}$  in Interaction with Resveratrol



abstract the H atom from O–H, but  $N_3$  can only abstract the H atom from O–H.<sup>68</sup>

$$^{\bullet}\text{OH} + \text{N}_{3}^{-} \xrightarrow{k = 1.2 \times 10^{10} \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}}_{\text{in N}_{2}\text{O-saturated solution}} \text{OH}^{-} + ^{\bullet}\text{N}_{3}$$
(12)

## 2.8. Cl<sub>3</sub>COO\*

Like 'OH and N<sub>3</sub>', trichloromethyl peroxyl radical (Cl<sub>3</sub>COO<sup>•</sup>) is also employed to test the radical-scavenging property of antioxidants. Cl<sub>3</sub>COO<sup>•</sup> is generated in a mixture containing 1% CCl<sub>4</sub> (v/v) and 50% (CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>CHOH (v/v) in 10 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>-KOH buffer at pH 7.4. It is also regarded as the derivative from 'OH as shown in Scheme 8.73 When Cl<sub>3</sub>COO<sup>•</sup> is applied to react with some natural phenols, the rate constants are measured and are illustrated in Scheme 9.73 N<sub>3</sub> and Cl<sub>3</sub>COO are formed by interacting corresponding agents with 'OH generated by radiolysis. These radicals are not stable enough to be preserved at room temperature. Recently, Cl<sub>3</sub>COO<sup>•</sup> was employed to interact with antioxidants such as retinoids<sup>74</sup> and lycopene<sup>75</sup> extracted from food. The operations for measuring the rate constants of antioxidants to trap 'OH, N<sub>3</sub>', and Cl<sub>3</sub>COO' are not very convenient, so the three radicals discussed in the three following sections are often utilized to test the antioxidant capacity since they are stable radicals at room temperature.

Scheme 8. Formation of Cl<sub>3</sub>COO<sup>•</sup>

•OH + 
$$\begin{array}{c} OH \\ CH_3CHCH_3 \end{array} \xrightarrow{OH} OH \\ CH_3CCH_3 + H_2O \\ CCl_4 - (CH_3CCH_3 + H^+) \\ e_{aq} + CCl_4 \xrightarrow{OCl_3} + Cl^- \\ O_2 \\ Cl_3COO \bullet \end{array}$$

### Scheme 9. Rate Constants of Natural Phenols Reacting with Cl<sub>3</sub>COO'

Rate constant of phenols to

react with  $Cl_3COO^{\bullet}(M^{-1}s^{-1})$ 



Scheme 10. Structure of ABTS<sup>2-</sup>

2.9. ABTS\*+

reduce ABTS++.81

2.10. DPPH



2,2'-Azinobis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonate)

(ABTS<sup>2-</sup>; structure in Scheme 10) is a colorless dianion salt of sodium or ammonium and can form a colorful cationic radical (ABTS<sup>++</sup>,  $\lambda_{max} = 734$  nm) under oxidation by K<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>8</sub> at room temperature for 16 h. The mixture is then diluted by ethanol to give an absorbance at 0.70 ± 0.02, defined as

the reference absorbance  $(A_{ref})$ .<sup>76,77</sup>  $A_{ref}$  decreases to a stable

value  $(A_{detect})$  when ABTS<sup>•+</sup> is mixed with an antioxidant.

The percentage of an antioxidant needed to trap ABTS<sup>++</sup> is

calculated by  $(1 - A_{detect}/A_{ref}) \times 100$ . This is the simplest

application of ABTS\*+ to inspect the ability of the total

antioxidants in food<sup>78</sup> and in blood samples.<sup>79</sup> The interaction

between an antioxidant and ABTS\*+ exhibits the overall

reductive ability of the whole molecule of the antioxidant;

therefore, it cannot give a quantitative result to express the

ability of a single hydroxyl group in the antioxidant to reduce

ABTS<sup>•+</sup>. Trolox is always assigned to be a reference

antioxidant to interact with ABTS<sup>•+</sup>, and then other antioxi-

dants react with ABTS\*+ under the same experimental

conditions. The results from other antioxidants in reducing

ABTS<sup>•+</sup> are compared with those of Trolox, expressed as

the Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC).<sup>80</sup> In

addition to the simplest usage of ABTS<sup>++</sup>, flow injection

analysis (FIA) (see Scheme 11) is applied to identify the

TEAC of individual or mixed samples. The clean ABTS<sup>•+</sup>

is formed online by electrochemical oxidation of ABTS<sup>2-</sup>

in the FIA apparatus. The flow rate, injection volume, and

ratio between ABTS<sup>++</sup> and the carrier solution need to be

optimized in determining the abilities of antioxidants to

DPPH ( $\lambda_{max} = 517$  nm, structure in Scheme 12) is a stable

N-centered radical at room temperature and is always

## Scheme 12. Structure of DPPH



Scheme 13. Mechanisms of DPPH To Interact with Phenolic Compounds (ArOH): HAT and SPLET

ArOH +	DPPH $\xrightarrow{\text{HAT}}$ ArO •+	DPPH-H
$H^+$ ] - $H^+$	CDI ET	$H^+$
ArO <sup>-</sup> +	DPPH $\xrightarrow{\text{SPLEI}}$ ArO •+	DPPH <sup>-</sup>

employed to inspect the radical-scavenging properties of antioxidants.<sup>82</sup> DPPH is dissolved in ethanol to give an absorbance around 1.0 ( $A_{ref}$ ) at 517 nm, and the addition of antioxidants decreases the absorbance of the DPPH solution to a stable value ( $A_{detect}$ ). The ability of the antioxidant to trap DPPH (%) is also calculated by  $(1 - A_{detect}/A_{ref}) \times 100$ . The abilities of natural compounds such as derivatives of caffeic acid,<sup>83</sup> (-)-matairesinol,<sup>84</sup> anthocyanins,<sup>85</sup> etc. to scavenge radicals are identified by interacting with DPPH. The H atom in C–H in  $\beta$ -carotene derivatives can even be abstracted by DPPH.<sup>86</sup> The concentration of an antioxidant needed to trap 50% DPPH or ABTS<sup>•+</sup> is designated as IC<sub>50</sub> to express the antioxidant capacity. A low value of  $IC_{50}$  for an antioxidant indicates that the antioxidant behaves as a strong radical scavenger. Therefore, DPPH is often adopted to inspect the radical-scavenging properties of extractions from plants and medicinal herbs. The synthesized antioxidants are also applied to react with DPPH to elucidate their radical-scavenging properties.<sup>87</sup>

The reaction of a phenolic compound (ArOH) with DPPH is expressed by the mechanisms of hydrogen atom transfer (HAT) and sequential proton loss electron transfer (SPLET). The H atom in O–H may transfer from ArOH to DPPH directly in the HAT mechanism. Alternatively, the SPLET mechanism means that ArOH first deprotonates to form phenolic anion (ArO<sup>-</sup>), and then DPPH accepts an electron from ArO<sup>-</sup>. Scheme 13 illustrates the comparison between HAT and SPLET.<sup>88</sup> Curcumin is prone to form an anion by losing a H atom from phenolic OH, and then the curcumin

### Scheme 11. Apparatus of FIA To Generate ABTS'+ by Electrochemical Oxidation Online







anion transfers an electron to DPPH, following the SPLET mechanism. In addition, the solvent applied for ArOH to scavenge DPPH may act as a hydrogen bond donator or hydrogen bond acceptor, which affects the reaction between an antioxidant and DPPH during the HAT mechanism. The abilities of the solvent to donate or accept a hydrogen bond are quantitated by Abraham's parameters  $\alpha_2^{H}$  and  $\beta_2^{H}$ , respectively. As shown in the following equation, the rate constant of the reaction between an antioxidant and DPPH  $(k^{HAT})$  is equal to the rate constant for the reaction occurring in a neutral solvent ( $k^0$ ), eliminating the influence from the ability of the solvent to donate or accept a hydrogen bond:<sup>89,90</sup>

$$\log k^{\text{HAT}} = \log k^0 - 8.3\alpha_2^{\text{H}}\beta_2^{\text{H}}$$
(13)

### 2.11. Galvinoxyl Radical

Galvinoxyl radical (structure in Scheme 14,  $\lambda_{max} = 428$ nm) is a stable O-centered radical at room temperature. The application of galvinoxyl radical is the same as that of DPPH to screen the radical-scavenging abilities of antioxidants. One molecule of TOH can trap one molecule of galvinoxyl radical at a rate constant of  $2.4 \times 10^3 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$  detected by the stopped-flow technique on a visible spectrometer.<sup>91</sup> Antioxidants attenuate the electron spin resonance (ESR) signal of galvinoxyl radical or DPPH; thus, the rate constants of the reaction between galvinoxyl radical or DPPH and the antioxidant can be measured accurately. For example, the rate constants of  $\alpha$ -tocopheryl hydroquinone and ubiquinol-10 in trapping galvinoxyl radical are  $1.0 \times 10^4$  and  $6.0 \times$ 10<sup>3</sup> M<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.<sup>92</sup> Quantum calculation on galvinoxyl radical by density function theory (DFT) reveals that galvinxoyl radical forms pairs, leading to the anomalous magnetic property at low temperature.9

# 3. Characterization of the Antioxidant Capacity Based on Chemical Kinetics

### 3.1. Oxidation of Linoleic Acid Based on Oxygen Exhaustion

LH (structure in Scheme 15) is the main ingredient of PUFAs in LDL and membranes that is susceptible to oxidation by radicals deriving from the decomposition of 2,2'-azobis(2-amidinopropane hydrochloride) (AAPH, R-N=N-R; structure in Scheme 15). Hence, AAPH-induced oxidation of LH usually acts as a chemical model to investigate radical-induced oxidation of PUFAs. The initiation of AAPH-induced oxidation of LH is outlined in the following equations:





$$R - N = N - R \xrightarrow{k_d} 2R^{\bullet} + N_2$$
(14)

$$R^{\bullet} + O_2 \rightarrow ROO^{\bullet} \tag{15}$$

$$ROO^{\bullet} + LH \rightarrow ROOH + L^{\bullet}$$
(16)

The radical of LH (L<sup>•</sup>) combines with oxygen to form a peroxyl radical (LOO<sup>•</sup>), which abstracts the H atom from another LH. As shown in eqs 17 and 18, the process of radical propagation causes the oxidation of LH to form peroxide (LOOH) completely. Finally, the residues L<sup>•</sup> and LOO<sup>•</sup> combine with each other to terminate the radical reaction as shown in eq 19.

$$L^{\bullet} + O_2 \xrightarrow{k_0} LOO^{\bullet}$$
(17)

$$LOO^{\bullet} + LH \xrightarrow{k_{p}} LOOH + L^{\bullet}$$
(18)

$$2L^{\bullet}$$

$$2LOO^{\bullet}$$

$$L^{\bullet} + LOO^{\bullet}$$

$$k_{t} \text{ nonradical products} \qquad (19)$$

Equations 14–19 are treated on the basis of the steady-state hypothesis, in which the concentrations of the radicals remain constant, namely,  $d[LOO^*]/dt = d[L^*]/dt = 0.^{94}$  Consequently, as shown in the following equation, the rate of oxygen exhaustion during the oxidation of LH ( $R_p$ ) is found to correlate with the rate of radical initiation ( $R_i$ ) and the concentration of LH:<sup>95</sup>

$$-d[O_2]/dt = R_p = [k_p/(2k_t)^{0.5}]R_i^{0.5}[LH]$$
(20)

The coefficient in eq 20,  $k_p/(2k_t)^{0.5}$ , called the *oxidizability*, represents the susceptibility of LH to be oxidized. With an antioxidant (AH) added to the above radical propagation, AH may replace LH to be oxidized by LOO<sup>•</sup> as shown in eq 21. If the antioxidant radical (A<sup>•</sup>) combines with LOO<sup>•</sup> to form a nonradical product (LOOA) as shown in eq 22, the radical-induced oxidation of LH is inhibited until all the antioxidant is depleted. Therefore, the addition of AH generates an *inhibition period* ( $t_{inh}$ ).

$$LOO^{\bullet} + AH \xrightarrow{k_{inh}} LOOH + A^{\bullet}$$
 (21)

$$LOO^{\bullet} + A^{\bullet} \xrightarrow{k_{combine}} LOOA$$
 (22)

The exhaustion rate of oxygen in the presence of AH is described as  $R_{\text{inh}}$  relating to the concentrations of AH and LOO<sup>•</sup> as shown in the following equation:



$$R_{\rm inh} = k_{\rm inh} n [\rm AH] [\rm LOO^{\bullet}]$$
 (23)

The *stoichiometric factor*, n, can be regarded as the number of LOO<sup>•</sup> molecules trapped by one molecule of AH as expressed in the following equation:

$$n = R_{\rm i} t_{\rm inh} / [\rm AH] \tag{24}$$

To treat eqs 21 and 22 on the basis of the steady-state hypothesis,  $R_{inh}$  is expressed by

$$-d[O_2]/dt = R_{inh} = k_p R_i [LH]/(nk_{inh} [AH])$$
(25)

After  $R_{\text{inh}}$ ,  $R_{\text{p}}$ , and  $t_{\text{inh}}$  are determined by using the equipment as shown in Scheme 16,<sup>96</sup> the kinetic parameters including  $k_{\text{inh}}$ ,  $k_{\text{p}}$ , and *n* are calculated by eqs 20, 24, and 25. Therefore, the ability of an antioxidant to protect LH against radicalinduced oxidation is described by these chemical kinetic parameters.

The key factor for calculating  $k_{inh}$ ,  $k_p$ , and n of an antioxidant is to obtain the rate of radicals to initiate the oxidation of LH ( $R_i$ ). Since the absolute value of  $R_i$  is difficult to measure directly, a reference antioxidant is used to scale  $R_i$  when n for the reference antioxidant is known. As shown in the following equation, the decay rate of the reference antioxidant in protecting LH against radical-induced oxidation is designated as  $R_i$  divided by n of the reference antioxidant:

$$-d[AH]/dt = R_i/n \tag{26}$$

For estimating  $R_i$ , TOH or Trolox is assigned to be the reference antioxidant whose *n* is taken as 2.0.  $R_i$  can be calculated after the decay rate of TOH or Trolox is measured.<sup>97</sup> Equation 26 is integrated to obtain eq 27; thus, the estimation of  $R_i$  is simplified just to measure  $t_{inh}$  generated from a certain concentration of TOH or Trolox. Then  $R_i$  is

estimated by eq 27, equivalent in style to eq 24, when the n of TOH or Trolox is taken as 2.0.<sup>98</sup>

$$R_{\rm i} = n[\rm AH]_0 / t_{\rm inh} \tag{27}$$

### 3.2. Analysis of Oxidative Products

After the H atom at the bisallyl in LH is abstracted by radicals to form LOO<sup>•</sup> in the presence of oxygen, the structure of LOO<sup>•</sup> is identified by analyzing the oxidation products from the autoxidation of LH or its methyl ester. As shown in Scheme 17, four main products including *trans,cis*- and *trans,trans*-conjugated dienes are confirmed when the methyl ester of LH is oxidized in benzene/1,4-cyclohexadiene.<sup>99</sup> A calculation of the BDE of C–O in peroxyl radicals of 1,4-cyclohexadiene also suggests that, as shown in the following equation, oxygen is added preferentially to the allyl position at the end of the conjugated diene radical in cyclohexadiene:<sup>100</sup>

$$\overset{H}{\longrightarrow} \overset{O_2}{\longrightarrow} \overset{H}{\longrightarrow} \overset{OO\bullet}{\longrightarrow} + \overset{H}{\longrightarrow} \overset{OO\bullet}{\longrightarrow}$$

$$(28)$$

Furthermore, the BDE of C–OO<sup>•</sup> and the rate of LOO<sup>•</sup> to eliminate two oxygen atoms from LOO<sup>•</sup> are measured as shown in Scheme 18.<sup>101</sup> The rate constant to eliminate oxygen from nonconjugated diene-type LOO<sup>•</sup> ( $1.9 \times 10^6 \text{ s}^{-1}$ ) approaches the diffusion-controlled rate because of a relatively low BDE of C–OO<sup>•</sup> in LOO<sup>•</sup> (3.8 kcal/mol). Contrarily, the rate constants to eliminate oxygen from conjugated diene-type LOO<sup>•</sup> to form *cis,cis*- and *trans,cis*-radicals are much lower than that of the aforementioned reaction owing to a high BDE of the corresponding C–OO<sup>•</sup> in LOO<sup>•</sup> (9.9 kcal/mol). The addition of TOH to the oxidation of LH governs the amount and kind of products from the oxidation of LH because the rate constant of TOH to react with

Scheme 16. Equipment To Measure the Oxygen Exhaustion and the Corresponding Chart





Scheme 18. BDE of C-OO' in LOO' and the Rate Constants of the Decomposition of LOO'



Scheme 19. Formation of 9-HODE and Cholestantriols from Cholesterol Linoleate via a Peroxyl Addition Reaction





Scheme 20. AAPH-Induced Oxidation of LH Stimulated by Retinoic Acid





nonconjugated diene-type LOO<sup>•</sup> is as high as  $3.8 \times 10^6 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1.101}$  The fast reaction between LOO<sup>•</sup> and TOH hinders the isomerization of C=C in LOO<sup>•</sup>.

LH forms cholesterol linoleate (LCH) in LDL. If LH in LCH is oxidized to form LOO<sup>•</sup>, C=C in cholesterol can be added by intramolecular LOO<sup>•</sup> to generate an epoxide of cholesterol. Eventually, cholestantriols and 9-hydroxyocta-decadienoic acid (9-HODE) are generated as shown in Scheme 19.<sup>102</sup>

As shown in Scheme 20, AAPH-induced oxidation of LH is accelerated by retinoic acid.<sup>103</sup> After LOO<sup>•</sup> adds to the C<sup>5</sup>=C<sup>6</sup> bond in retinoic acid, the cleavage of the O–O bond forms 5,6-epoxyretinoic acid and the alkoxyl radical of LH (LO<sup>•</sup>), which converts into 9-HODE (or 13-HODE) eventually. Moreover, *all-trans*-retinol is an antioxidant to protect unilamellar soybean phosphatidylcholine against AAPH-induced oxidation.  $\beta$ -Carotene functions as an in vitro antioxidant only at a low partial pressure of oxygen (<150 Torr), while it behaves as autocatalytic and has a prooxidative effect at a high partial pressure of oxygen, particularly at

the relatively high concentration used.<sup>11</sup> It was also found that a low partial pressure of oxygen and low concentration of retinol are beneficial for retinol to protect phosphatidylcholine by comparing  $t_{inh}$  and  $R_{inh}/R_p$  with the different pressures of oxygen applied. The generation of 5,6-retinol epoxide confirms that alkyl peroxyl radical generated from phosphatidylcholine adds to  $C^5=C^6$  in retinol. Thus, the antioxidant ability of retinol to protect phosphatidylcholine depends on the concentration of retinol and the partial pressure of oxygen.<sup>104</sup>

Erythrocytes are susceptible to oxidation induced by ROS including AAPH,  $Cu^{2+}$ , and  $Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2$ , resulting in hemolysis. After erythrocytes are hemolyzed by ROS, and the proteins in the membranes are precipitated by CHCl<sub>3</sub>/ CH<sub>3</sub>OH, it is found that cholesterol in the membrane of the erythrocytes is oxidized to form cholesta-4,6-dien-3-ol, cholesta-4,6-dien-3-one, and cholesta-3,5-dien-7-one. The oxidation process is shown in Scheme 21.<sup>105</sup>

Scheme 21. Formation of Cholesta-4,6-dien-3-ol, Cholesta-4,6-dien-3-one, and Cholesta-3,5-dien-7-one from the Oxidation of Cholesterol in the Membrane of Erythrocytes



### 3.3. Improvement in Chemical Kinetic Deduction

In the oxidation of egg lecithin phosphatidylcholine (ELP) induced by tert-butyl hyponitrite (DBHN) in the water phase, the rate of oxygen exhaustion  $(R_p)$  is the same as that of oxidation occurring in chlorobenzene. ELP dissolved in water forms a liposome with a bilayer, but it forms a homogeneous solution in chlorobenzene. The rate of the oxidation of ELP in chlorobenzene is the same as that in water, demonstrating that the chemical kinetic expression for the radical-induced oxidation of PUFA in homogeneous solution is suitable for that in liposomes or micelles.<sup>106</sup> This provides a theoretical basis for introducing LH into CTAB, SDS, and Triton X-100 to mimic PUFA in the cationic, anionic, and neutral microenvironments and to obtain the oxidizability,  $k_{inh}$ , and *n* of antioxidants in micelles.<sup>38</sup> Moreover,  $R_p$  and  $R_{inh}$  can also be measured by the formation of LOOH detected by HPLC.<sup>107</sup> When  $\gamma$ -terpinene is oxidized by 2,2'-azobis(isobutyronitrile) (AIBN), the formation rate of p-cymene, the only oxidative product, is utilized to express the oxidation rate of  $\gamma$ -terpinene.<sup>108,109</sup> Furthermore, the experimental systems for oxidations of PUFAs are also composed of AIBN-induced oxidation of tetralin,<sup>110</sup> Cu<sup>2+</sup>-induced oxidation of yolk lipoprotein,<sup>111</sup> AAPH-induced oxidation of glycerol trioleate,<sup>112</sup> etc.

Some antioxidants (structure in Scheme 22) just decrease the exhaustion rate of oxygen rather than generate  $t_{inh}$  when they protect LH against radical-induced oxidation of PU-FAs.<sup>113</sup> If  $t_{inh}$  cannot be obtained, it is impossible to calculate  $R_i$  by eq 27. Consequently, other kinetic parameters cannot be calculated. Therefore, it is necessary to improve the deduction for the kinetic process on the basis of all the radicals including R<sup>•</sup>, L<sup>•</sup>, A<sup>•</sup>, and LOO<sup>•</sup> at the steady state. Their concentrations remain constant, namely,  $d[R^•]/dt =$  $d[L^•]/dt = d[A^•]/dt = d[LOO^•]/dt = 0$ . Experimentally, the rates of oxygen exhaustion are measured in the presence of various concentrations of an antioxidant ( $R_{inh}$ ) and compared

Scheme 22. Values of  $k_{AH}$  of Some Antioxidants and  $\beta$  in Protecting LH against Oxidation



with that in the absence  $(R_p)$  of the antioxidant. The ratio between  $R_{inh}$  and  $R_p$  is expressed by

$$R_{\rm inh}/R_{\rm p} = 1 - \beta \{ (k_{\rm AH}[\rm AH] + 1) - (k_{\rm AH}^2[\rm AH]^2 + 1)^{0.5} \}$$
(29)

where

$$\beta = k_{\rm p}[\rm LH] / \{(4k_{\rm d}k_{\rm t}[\rm R-N=N-R])^{0.5} + k_{\rm p}[\rm LH]\}$$
(30)

and

$$k_{\rm AH} = k_{\rm inh} / (4k_{\rm d}k_{\rm t}[{\rm R-N=N-R}])^{0.5}$$
 (31)

The constant  $k_{AH}$  is a measure of the radical-scavenging ability of the antioxidant, whereas  $\beta$  is a constant independent of the nature of the antioxidant. The constants are evaluated from eq 29 by an iterative fitting procedure in which the residual sum of squares is minimized.<sup>113</sup> Together with the chemical kinetic equations in section 3.1, the ability of the antioxidant can be estimated kinetically no matter whether  $t_{inh}$  can be generated.

### 4. Applications of Biological Tissues To Inspect Antioxidant Activity

### 4.1. Low-Density Lipoprotein

The oxidized LDL is a cytotoxin that causes atherosclerosis eventually.<sup>114</sup> The endogenous antioxidants in LDL are able to protect LDL against ROS-induced oxidation. Chemically, LDL is appropriate for the exploration of antioxidant capacity because it contains abundant PUFAs and various endogenous antioxidants simultaneously. For instance, the antioxidant capacities of polyphenols extracted from green tea<sup>115</sup> and synthetic hydroxyl-substituted coumarin<sup>116</sup> are investigated in AAPH-induced oxidation of LDL by measuring the variation of the concentration of oxygen. Therefore,  $k_{inh}$  and *n* of these antioxidants are calculated by eqs 20, 24, and 25. On the other hand, endogenous TOH is found to be a prooxidant<sup>117</sup> in the absence of ubiquinol-10 (QH<sub>2</sub>).<sup>118</sup> The chemical kinetics reveals the relationships between the concentrations of LDL, AAPH, and endogenous TOH. It is found that a low concentration of AAPH, a high concentration of endogenous TOH, and the absence of other antioxidants stimulate TOH to form a radical (TO<sup>•</sup>), initiating the additional oxidative propagation within the particle of LDL, called tocopherol-mediated peroxidation (TMP).<sup>119</sup> TMP takes place intrinsically within LDL; it can be inhibited by endogenous QH<sub>2</sub> and exogenous ascorbate (AH<sup>-</sup>). Scheme 23 collects the rate constants of the reactions among various antioxidants within and outside of LDL.<sup>120</sup>

Besides the measurement of the rate of oxygen exhaustion, the oxidation of LDL can be followed by detecting the formations of malondialdehyde (MDA),<sup>121</sup> diene, cholesteryl linoleate hydroxide (Ch18:2-OH), and cholesteryl linoleate hydroperoxide (Ch18:2-OOH).<sup>122</sup> Traditionally, MDA is measured to characterize the oxidative extent of LDL since the nonconjugated diene of PUFAs in LDL converts into prostaglandin-like endoperoxide and generates MDA eventually as shown in Scheme 24. The C=O groups in MDA can form a colorful adduct ( $\lambda_{max} = 535$  nm) with thiobarbituric acid (TBA); thus, the oxidation of LDL can be followed by detecting TBA reactive substance (TBARS).<sup>123</sup> As shown in Scheme 17, the nonconjugated diene of LH in LDL first transforms to a conjugated diene ( $\lambda_{max} = 234$  nm) when LDL is subjected to oxidation; therefore, the increase of the absorbance at 234 nm exhibits the oxidative extent of LDL induced by Cu<sup>2+</sup>.<sup>124</sup> This method is not appropriate for AAPH-induced oxidation of LDL since AAPH has an absorbance at 234 nm. Detection of Ch18:2-OH or Ch18: 2-OOH by HPLC gives the amount of oxidative products directly. LDL is isolated from plasma by ultracentrifugation at 140000g for 6 h when the density of plasma is adjusted to 1.4 g/mL by dissolving NaBr, and a 0.9% NaCl aqueous solution is added onto the layer of plasma as shown in Scheme 25.125 Hence, LDL is a facile biological material employed to inspect antioxidant capacity.

Scheme 23. Chemical Kinetic Model of Radical-Induced Oxidation of LDL and the Protective Effects of Endogenous and Exogenous Antioxidants on LDL







MDA-TBA-adduct



### 4.2. DNA

DNA is another biological material usually employed to inspect antioxidant activity when it is oxidized by metal ions, peroxyl radical, irradiation, etc. The interaction between DNA and ROS transforms the supercoiled DNA into a single-stranded and linear form. This process can be observed by electrophoresis.<sup>126</sup> For example, in the presence of (9Z,11E)-13-hydroperoxy-9,11-octadecadienoic acid, the cleavage of pBR 322 plasmid DNA is observed by electrophoresis.<sup>127</sup> The usage of green tea phenols in combination with Trolox protects DNA against AAPH-induced oxidation efficiently because of no cleavage fragments of DNA observed by electrophoresis.<sup>128</sup> On the contrary, electrophoresis exhibits more fragments deriving from DNA in the presence of hydroxycinnamic acid and Cu<sup>2+</sup>, revealing that hydroxycinnamic acid in combination with Cu<sup>2+</sup> plays a prooxidative role to break DNA.<sup>129</sup> The technique of <sup>32</sup>Plabeled DNA allows the obvious observation of the fragments of DNA by electrophoresis. For example, after 3'-phosphoglycolate, the terminus of DNA, is labeled by <sup>32</sup>P, the breaks of the DNA strand can be observed by electrophoresis more manifestly when DNA is oxidized by 'OH or calciumactivated nucleases.<sup>130</sup> Because DNA is a polymer, and the oxidative products are small organic molecules, their densities and viscosities are different. A bulk acoustic wave impedance sensor is applied to monitor the variations of the density and viscosity for the DNA solution during oxidation induced by vitamin C and Fe<sup>3+</sup>, indicating that the oxidation of DNA follows the first-order kinetic law.<sup>131</sup> A small volume of mitochondrial DNA is labeled with an intercalating dye, YOYO-1, to improve the sensitivity for detecting the oxidative products of DNA by fluorescence correlation spectroscopy equipped with a dichroic mirror (>510 nm) and a bandpass filter (515-560 nm).<sup>132</sup> Moreover, the measurement of 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) by HPLC gives a quantitative expression for the damage of DNA.<sup>133</sup>

After many methods have been set up to inspect the oxidation of DNA, the ways to induce the oxidation of DNA are taken into consideration. Some chemical agents are regarded as cytotoxic because the metabolites from them can initiate the oxidation of DNA. For instance, benzene is a strong carcinogen to animals and humans because the metabolites of benzene including benzoquinone, catechol, and 1,2,4-benzenetriol result in the formation of  $O_2^{\bullet-}$  and other oxygen radicals to damage DNA in the presence of metal ions,<sup>134</sup> especially Cu<sup>2+, 135</sup> Moreover, when <sup>32</sup>P-labeled human DNA is exposed to o-aminophenol, a metabolite from o-anisidine, it is found that o-aminophenol causes an increase of 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxodG). The addition of Cu<sup>2+</sup> or CuZn-SOD enhances the damage of DNA and alters the sequence of DNA simultaneously, and a radical signal is detected in the mixture of *p*-aminophenol (5 mM) and  $Cu^{2+}$  (0.5 mM) in the ESR spectrum, which is in agreement with the calculated signal of *p*-aminophenoxyl radical.136

Now that  $Cu^{2+}$  is able to stimulate the generation of an O-centered radical from a phenolic compound, whether it can lead to a S-centered radical from thiols and the influence of the S-centered radical on DNA are the further concern with respect to the oxidation of DNA. As summarized in a previously published review,<sup>52</sup> it is complicated for thiols to inhibit or promote the damage of DNA. When DL-cysteine is added to the oxidative experimental system of DNA, the oxidant employed to oxidize DNA and the electron-transfer procedure govern DL-cysteine to be an antioxidant or a prooxidant.<sup>137</sup> A mixture of glutathione (GSH) and Cu<sup>2+</sup> (both 0-5 mM) definitely causes the cleavage of plasmid DNA observed by electrophoresis, and the oxidation products are measured after reaction with TBA to form TBARS ( $\varepsilon_{532}$ =  $158\ 000\ \text{M}^{-1}\ \text{cm}^{-1}$ ).<sup>138</sup> Scheme 26 illustrates the formation of MDA in 'OH-induced oxidation of DNA.<sup>139</sup> The radical generated from the decomposition of AAPH can abstract the H atom from the C-4' atom of DNA and cause strand breaks.<sup>140</sup> The further oxidative products can also be trapped by TBA to form TBARS. In the process of AAPH-induced oxidation of DNA, the addition of melatonin lags the formation of TBARS. The lag time  $(t_{inh})$  is proportional to the concentration of melatonin applied.<sup>141</sup> The following equation, equivalent in style to eq 24, can be used to express the linear relationship between  $t_{inh}$  and the concentration of an antioxidant needed to protect DNA:

$$t_{\rm inh} = (n/R_{\rm i})[\rm AH] \tag{32}$$

 $R_i$  is a relative value by using Trolox or TOH as the reference antioxidant whose *n* is assigned as 2.0. However, both Trolox and TOH cannot generate  $t_{inh}$  in protecting DNA when TBARS is measured. Thus,  $R_i$  is assumed to be equal to the rate of radical generated from the decomposition of AAPH,  $R_g = (1.4 \pm 0.2) \times 10^{-6}$  [AAPH] s<sup>-1</sup>. On the basis of this assumption, it is found that one molecule of melatonin can trap almost two radicals in protecting DNA.<sup>141</sup> Although the physiological meaning of the *n* value of an antioxidant cannot be confirmed, *n* is still a quantitative index to compare the antioxidant ability in protecting DNA.

### 4.3. Erythrocytes

The abundant components of proteins and lipids in the membrane of erythrocytes make erythrocytes an in vitro substrate usually employed to screen antioxidant capacity. Oxidative stress on erythrocytes involves many aspects. For instance, the variation of pH affects the shape of the erythrocytes<sup>142</sup> and the rate of acid transfer into the cytosol.<sup>143</sup> Triton X-100 as a surfactant functions as an oxidative resource replacing phospholipids in the membrane.<sup>144</sup> Incubating erythrocytes with lecithin liposomes generates lipid peroxidation in the erythrocyte membrane, depletes TOH, and leads to hemolysis eventually.<sup>145</sup> The phospholipid domains, conformational order, and shape of the intact human erythrocytes have been investigated by





analyzing the variations of peaks within 2050-2250 cm<sup>-1</sup> in a second-derivative Fourier transform infrared (FT-IR) spectrum when 1,2-dilauroylphosphatidylethanolamine and 1,2-dipentadecanoylphosphatidylcholine with a perdeuterated acyl chain are incorporated preferentially into the inner or outer leaflets of the erythrocytes.<sup>146</sup> Nevertheless, AAPHinduced hemolysis of erythrocytes is the most suitable method to evaluate antioxidant activity.<sup>147,148</sup> Originally, the membrane protein is regarded as the critical target attacked by radicals in the erythrocyte membrane.<sup>149</sup> Hemolysis does not take place immediately when erythrocytes are incubated with AAPH in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; 150 mM NaCl, 8.1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1.9 mM NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.4) at 37 °C because of the protection from the endogenous antioxidants. After the endogenous antioxidants are depleted completely, hemolysis occurs with hemoglobin ( $\lambda_{max} = 535$ nm) leaking out of the membrane and dissolving in PBS. Thus, after the residue erythrocytes are removed by centrifugation, the absorbance in the PBS phase (supernatant solution) reflects the hemolysis extent. The endogenous antioxidants lag the occurrence of hemolysis and generate an inhibition period  $(t_{inh})$ . Sometimes the absorbance in the supernatant solution from the erythrocyte suspension thoroughly hemolyzed by water is assigned as the reference value (Abs<sub>ref</sub>); the absorbance of the supernatant solution at other time points (Abs<sub>detect</sub>) is compared with Abs<sub>ref</sub> to obtain the hemolysis percentage (Abs<sub>detect</sub>/Abs<sub>ref</sub> × 100).<sup>150</sup> The addition of antioxidants may increase  $t_{inh}$ .<sup>151</sup> On the other hand, MDA can also be generated in the process of hemolysis.<sup>152</sup>

It is essential to obtain  $t_{inh}$  accurately. Some antioxidants affect the hemolysis rate other than prolong  $t_{inh}$ . Thus, the time at which 50% of the erythrocytes are hemolyzed is assigned as  $t_{inh}$ .<sup>153</sup> The variation of the absorbance during the whole process of hemolysis can be expressed by the Boltzmann equation:

$$A = (A_{\text{initial}} - A_{\text{final}})/[1 + e^{(t-t_0)/dt}] + A_{\text{final}} \quad (33)$$

A in eq 33 indicates the absorbance at a certain time point t,  $A_{\text{initial}}$  and  $A_{\text{final}}$  represent the absorbance at the beginning and end of hemolysis, and  $t_0$  reveals the time at which half of the erythrocytes are hemolyzed.<sup>154</sup> When the values of A and the corresponding t are input into the software for data treatment, eq 33 is given automatically, and  $t_0$  is obtained consequently. Since  $t_0$  can be prolonged by additional antioxidants, the difference between the presence of the additional antioxidants and the control experiment is regarded as  $t_{inh}$ , which is proportional to the concentration of the exogenous antioxidants as expressed in eq 32. Trolox acts as a reference antioxidant in AAPH-induced hemolysis to measure  $R_i$  with *n* assigned as 2.0. It is found that  $R_i$  is equal to  $R_{g}$ , demonstrating that all the radicals generated from the decomposition of AAPH attack the erythrocytes directly.<sup>155</sup> This is due to the radical generated from AAPH locating at the same phase in which the erythrocytes are suspended. The relationship between  $t_{inh}$  and the concentration of other antioxidants is expressed by eq 32. As a result, the n value of other antioxidants is calculated with a known  $R_{i}$ .

The *n* values of hydroxyl-substituted Schiff bases are measured and compared with each other as shown in Scheme 27.<sup>156,157</sup> When Schiff bases **1** and **2** protect erythrocytes against AAPH-induced hemolysis, the former one generates an *n* value of 4.67 and the latter one generates an *n* value of 6.00. The difference between the structures of Schiff bases **1** and **2** is a -OH attaching to the benzaldehyde in **2**. The difference in the *n* values between Schiff bases **1** and **2** (6.00 - 4.67 = 1.33) can be regarded as the contribution from the -OH in Schiff base **2**. Therefore, the contributions from substituents to the antioxidant abilities of Schiff bases are expressed by the difference value of *n* as shown in Scheme 27.

Other methods are also applied to initiate hemolysis. Visible light causes hemolysis of 0.5% erythrocytes suspended in 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4) with aminophylline (80  $\mu$ g/mL) and riboflavin (50  $\mu$ M) as photosensitizers. As

Scheme 27. n Values of Substituents of Schiff Bases in Protecting Erythrocytes against AAPH-Induced Hemolysis



Scheme 28. Photoinduced Hemolysis of Erythrocytes in the Presence of Riboflavin



Scheme 29. Structure of Hemin



shown in Scheme 28, <sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub> and triplet oxygen (<sup>3</sup>O<sub>2</sub>) are formed in the case of irradiation of riboflavin by visible light and then oxidize aminophylline. As a result, 'OH is formed in the oxidation of aminophylline and leads to hemolysis eventually.<sup>158</sup> Experimental evidence reveals the loss of K<sup>+</sup> in the membrane prior to hemolysis; thus, the chelation of  $K^+$  by these photosensitizers may be another reason for hemolysis. Hemin (structure in Scheme 29) initiates hemolysis by accelerating the loss of  $K^+$  in the erythrocyte membrane. Therefore, if an antioxidant can protect erythrocytes against hemin-induced hemolysis, it can be regarded as a protector to stabilize the erythrocyte membrane. TOH<sup>159</sup> and ginsenosides<sup>160</sup> are efficient membrane stabilizers to inhibit hemin-induced hemolysis. Moreover, xanthine oxidase (XO) is used to initiate the oxidation of LDL and the hemolysis of erythrocytes, and the antioxidant capacities are inspected in these experimental systems as well.<sup>161</sup>

### 5. Other methods

### 5.1. ESR

The single electron in the radical can be detected by ESR. Thus, ESR is the most important experimental technique to observe radicals directly and to inspect the antioxidants to trap radicals. The antioxidant abilities of cyclic nitrone spin traps (structures in Scheme 30) are characterized by ESR spectroscopy.<sup>162</sup> The decrease of the ESR signals indicates that the inhibition of Cu<sup>2+</sup>-induced oxidation of LDL is dependent upon the ability of the N $\rightarrow$ O bond to chelate Cu<sup>2+</sup> and to trap radicals in LDL. Moreover, the N→O compounds are usually applied to test the rate constant of antioxidants to trap radicals chemically. As shown in Scheme 31, the radical generated from TOH can be repaired by ebselen<sup>122</sup> and polyphenols extracted from green tea.<sup>163</sup> The addition of 5,5-dimethylpyrroline (DMPO) traps radicals in AAPHinduced hemolysis.<sup>148</sup> p-Dinitrobenzenide is reduced by potassium to form an ion pair with an ESR signal, validating that the ion pair is a radical.<sup>164</sup>

### 5.2. Quantum Calculation

Since some radicals are very difficult to detect experimentally, quantum calculation plays an important role in expressing the properties of these radicals, in which enthalpy, Scheme 30. Structures of Cyclic Nitrone with Abilities To Protect LDL against Cu<sup>2+</sup>- or AAPH-Induced Peroxidation







entropy, bond energy, and heat capacity are the thermodynamic parameters employed usually. The radicals derived from vinyl alcohols (enols) are regarded as the intermediates in the oxidation of hydrocarbons and are not readily trapped. Alternatively, the structures of all the possible radicals are optimized at the B3LYP/6-31G(d,p) level and at the same harmonic vibrational frequencies and zero-point vibrational energies. Theoretical calculation provides the possibility for comparing the enthalpy ( $\Delta_{\rm f} H^{\circ}_{298}$ ) and entropy ( $S^{\circ}_{298}$ ) during the formation of these radicals. As a result, the values of  $\Delta_{\rm f} H^{\circ}_{298}$  for 'CH=CHOH, 'CH=CHOCH<sub>3</sub>, and CH<sub>2</sub>=C' OCH<sub>3</sub> formed in the gas phase are around 30-40 kcal/mol, whereas the values of  $\Delta_{\rm f} H^{\circ}_{298}$  for anti-CH<sub>2</sub>=C'OH and CH2=CHOCH2 range from 20 to 30 kcal/mol, demonstrating that the latter radicals are more stable than the former ones.<sup>165</sup> The influences of the ortho-substituted groups on the radical formed at the phenolic hydroxyl group are evaluated by calculating the BDE of O-H.<sup>166</sup> Furthermore, the BDE values of the N-H bond in phenothiazine derivatives are similar to that of O-H in TOH, revealing the reason why phenothiazine derivatives have antioxidant capacities similar to that of TOH.<sup>167</sup> The spin density on the atom with the single electron should be taken into consideration in evaluating the stabilization of radicals. Four hydroxyl groups in carminic acid have similar BDEs of O-H; however, as shown in Scheme 32, the spin densities on the O atoms are quite different when carminic acid forms radicals. A low spin density implies that the single electron can be dispensed perfectly to the benzene ring, resulting in a relatively stable radical.<sup>168</sup> Some radicals have comparable stability, but the corresponding compounds are not good antioxidants. For example, the bond strengths of phenol and toluene are quite similar, as are the spin densities in the resulting radicals. Phenol may play an antioxidant role, whereas toluene cannot. There are a couple of theories to explain the low barrier for H atom transfer between phenols and oxygen-centered

Scheme 32. Spin Densities on O Atoms When O-H in Carminic Acid Forms Radicals



radicals such as triplet repulsion in the transitions state<sup>169</sup> and proton-coupled electron transfer (PCET).<sup>170</sup>

### 6. Conclusion

Some convenient methods employed to explore antioxidant capacities are introduced to organic laboratories majoring in the synthesis or extraction of antioxidants. These methods are composed of inspecting antioxidant capacities by interacting with oxidants, evaluating antioxidant behaviors by using biological experimental materials, and calculating the stabilization of radicals derived from antioxidants by quantum chemical methods. These methods are beneficial for researchers to investigate the antioxidant capacities of the extraction from natural resources rapidly and to explore the structure—activity relationships of the synthetic antioxidants conveniently.

### 7. Abbreviations

2,2'-azobis(2-amidinopropane hydrochloride)
2,2'-azinobis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonate) cat-
ionic radical
ascorbate
2,2'-azobis(isobutyronitrile)

### 5690 Chemical Reviews, 2010, Vol. 110, No. 10

ArOH	phenolic compound
$ArO^{-}$	phenolic anion
BDE	bond dissociation energy
Ch18:2-OH	cholesteryl linoleate hydroxide
Ch18:2-OOH	cholesteryl linoleate hydroperoxide
CTAB	cetyltrimethylammonium bromide
DBHN	<i>tert</i> -butyl hyponitrite
DFT	density functional theory
2'dG	2'-deoxyguanosine
DMPO	5,5-dimethylpyrroline
DPPH	2,2'-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
DTPA	diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid
ELP	egg lecithin phosphatidylcholine
ESR	electron spin resonance
FIA	flow injection analysis
GSH	glutathione
HAT	hydrogen atom transfer
HODE	hydroxyoctadecadienoic acid
HPODE	hydroxyperoxyoctadecadienoic acid
LCH	cholesterol linoleate
LDL	low-density lipoprotein
LH	linoleic acid
LOOH	peroxide of linoleic acid
LOO.	peroxyl radical of linoleic acid
LO'	alkoxyl radical of linoleic acid
MDA	malondialdehyde
8-OHdG	8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine
8-oxodG	8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine
PCET	proton-coupled electron transfer
PUFA	polyunsaturated fatty acid
QH <sub>2</sub>	ubiquinol-10
QSAR	quantitative structure-activity relationship
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SOD	superoxide dismutase
SPLET	sequential proton loss electron transfer
t <sub>inh</sub>	inhibition period
TEAC	Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity
TMP	tocopherol-mediated peroxidation
ТОН	α-tocopherol
TO <b>'</b>	TOH radical
TBA	thiobarbituric acid
TBARS	thiobarbituric acid reactive substance
XO	xanthine oxidase

### 8. References

- (1) Harman, D. Gerontology 1956, 298.
- (2) Kirkwood, T. B. L.; Austad, S. N. Nature 2000, 408, 233.
- (3) Finkel, T.; Holbrook, N. J. Nature 2000, 408, 239.
- (4) Rice-Evans, C.; Diplock, A. T. Free Radical Biol. Med. 1993, 15, 77.
- (5) Surh, Y.-J. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2003, 3, 768.
- (6) Bland, J. S. J. Nutr. Environ. Med. 1995, 5, 255.
- (7) Neumann, G. A.; Krause, D. S.; Carman, C. V.; Das, S.; Dubey, D. P.; Abraham, J. L.; Bronson, R. Y.; Fujiwara, Y.; Orkin, S. H.; van Etten, R. *Nature* **2003**, *424*, 561.
- (8) Kamal-Eldin, A.; Appelqvist, L.-A. Lipids 1996, 31, 671.
- (9) Arrigoni, O.; De Tullio, M. C. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 2002, *1569*, 1.
   (10) Ingold, K. U.; Bowry, V. W.; Stocker, R.; Walling, C. *Proc. Natl.*
- *Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **1993**, *90*, 45. (11) Burton, G. W.; Ingold, K. U. *Science* **1984**, *224*, 569.
- (11) Burton, G. W.; Ingold, K. U. Science 1964, 224, 567.
   (12) Burton, G. W.; Ingold, K. U. Acc. Chem. Res. 1986, 19, 194.
- (13) Vinson, J. A.; Dabbagh, Y. A.; Serry, M. M.; Jang, J. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1995, 43, 2800.
- (14) Giles, G. I.; Fry, F. H.; Tasker, K. M.; Holme, A. L.; Peers, C.; Green, K. N.; Klotz, L.-O.; Sies, H.; Jacob, C. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2003, 1, 4317.
- (15) Sies, H. Angew. Chem. 1986, 98, 1061.
- (16) Hussain, S. P.; Hofseth, L. J.; Harris, C. C. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2003, 3, 276.
- (17) Esterbauer, H.; Ramos, P. Rev. Physiol. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1995, 127, 31.
- (18) Bartosz, M.; Kedziora, J.; Bartosz, G. Free Radical Biol. Med. 1997, 23, 729.
- (19) Vosters, O.; Nève, J. Talanta 2002, 57, 595.
- (20) Betigeri, S.; Thakur, A.; Raghavan, K. Pharm. Res. 2005, 22, 310.
- (21) Ng, T. B.; Liu, F.; Wang, Z. T. Life Sci. 2000, 66, 709.

- (22) Takenaka, M.; Nagata, T.; Yoshida, M. Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem. 2000, 64, 2689.
- (23) Maldonado, P. D.; Rivero-Cruz, I.; Mata, R.; Pedraza-Chaverrí, J. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2005, 53, 1996.
- (24) Teguo, P. W.; Fauconneau, B.; Deffieux, G.; Huguet, F.; Vercauteren, J.; Mérillon, J.-M. J. Nat. Prod. 1998, 61, 655.
- (25) Chen, C.-H.; Shaw, C.-Y.; Chen, C.-C.; Tsai, Y.-C. J. Nat. Prod. 2002, 65, 740.
- (26) He, Z.-D.; Lau, K.-M.; But, P. P.-H.; Jiang, R.-W.; Dong, H.; Ma, S.-C.; Fung, K.-P.; Ye, W.-C.; Sun, H.-D. J. Nat. Prod. 2003, 66, 851.
- (27) Vinson, J. A.; Hontz, B. A. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1995, 43, 401.
- (28) Moser, P.; Sallmann, A.; Wiesenberg, I. J. Med. Chem. 1990, 33, 2358.
- (29) Gaudiano, M. C.; Valvo, L.; Bertocchi, P.; Manna, L. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 2003, 32, 151.
- (30) Jordán, J. A.; Alvarez, F. J.; Lotero, L. A.; Herráez, A.; Díez, J. C.; Tejedor, M. C. Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem. 2001, 34, 143.
- (31) da Silva, E. L.; Tsushida, T.; Terao, J. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1998, 349, 313.
- (32) Cheng, Z.; Li, Y. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 748.
- (33) Murota, K.; Matsui, N.; Kawada, T.; Takahashi, N.; Fushuki, T. Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem. 2001, 65, 1441.
- (34) Denisov, E. T.; Khudyakov, I. V. Chem. Rev. 1987, 87, 1313.
- (35) Frankel, E. N.; Meyer, A. S. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2000, 80, 1925.
- (36) Huang, D. J.; Ou, B. X.; Prior, R. L. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2005, 53, 1841.
- (37) Laguerre, M.; Lecomte, J.; Villeneuve, P. Prog. Lipid Res. 2007, 46, 244.
- (38) Liu, Z.-L. Antioxidant activity of vitamin E and vitamin C derivatives in membrane mimetic systems. In *Bioradicals Detected by ESR Spectroscopy*; Ohya-Nishiguchi, H., Packer, L., Eds.; Birkhauser Verlag: Basel, Switzerland, 1995; p 259.
- (39) Davies, K. J. A.; Goldberg, A. L. J. Biol. Chem. 1987, 262, 8220.
- (40) Davies, K. J. A.; Goldberg, A. L. J. Biol. Chem. 1987, 262, 8227.
- (41) Cooke, M. S.; Evans, M. D.; Dizdaroglu, M.; Lunec, J. FASEB J. 2003, 17, 1195.
- (42) Kammeyer, A.; Eggelte, T. A.; Overmars, H.; Bootsma, A.; Bos, J. D.; Teunissen, M. B. M. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2001, 1526, 277.
- (43) Liu, Z.-Q.; Yu, W.; Liu, Z.-L. Chem. Phys. Lipids 1999, 103, 125.
- (44) Burkitt, M. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 2001, 394, 117.
- (45) Spiteller, D.; Spiteller, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 585.
- (46) Spiteller, D.; Spiteller, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 583.
- (47) Ehrenfeld, G. M.; Shipley, J. B.; Heimbrook, D. C.; Sugiyama, H.; Long, E. C.; van Boom, J. H.; van der Marel, G. A.; Oppenheimer, N. J.; Hecht, S. M. *Biochemistry* **1987**, *26*, 931.
- (48) Zheng, L.-F.; Wei, Q.-Y.; Cai, Y.-J.; Fang, J.-G.; Zhou, B.; Yang, L.; Liu, Z.-L. Free Radical Biol. Med. 2006, 41, 1807.
- (49) Yamashita, N.; Murata, M.; Inoue, S.; Burkitt, M. J.; Milne, L.;
- Kawanishi, S. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 1998, 11, 855.
- (50) Benzie, I. F. F.; Strain, J. J. Anal. Biochem. 1996, 239, 70.
- (51) Tarr, M.; Velenzeno, D. P. Photochem. Photobiol. Sci. 2003, 2, 355.
- (52) Lafleur, M. V. M.; Retèl, J. Mutat. Res. **1993**, 295, 1.
- (53) Hawkins, C. L.; Brown, B. E.; Davies, M. J. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 2001, 395, 137.
- (54) Greer, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 2006, 39, 797.
- (55) Aubry, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 5844.
- (56) Busby, R. H. M.; Hamblett, C. G. I.; Gorman, A. A. J. Phys. Chem. A 1999, 103, 7454.
- (57) Fu, Y. L.; Krasnovsky, A. A.; Foote, C. S. J. Phys. Chem. A 1997, 101, 2552.
- (58) Panasenko, O. M.; Briviba, K.; Klotz, L.-O.; Sies, H. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1997, 343, 254.
- (59) Steenken, S.; Jovanovic, S. V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1997, 119, 617.
  (60) Yu, H.; Venkatarangan, L.; Wishnok, J. S.; Tannenbaum, S. R. Chem.
- Res. Toxicol. 2005, 18, 1849.
- (61) Uppu, R. M.; Pryor, W. A. Anal. Biochem. 1996, 236, 242.
- (62) Zhu, Q. Y.; Hackman, R. M.; Ensunsa, J. L.; Holt, R. R.; Keen, C. L. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2002, 50, 6929.
- (63) Kooy, N. W.; Royall, J. A.; Ischiropoulos, H.; Beckman, J. S. Free Radical Biol. Med. 1994, 16, 149.
- (64) Yu, J.; Wang, L.; Walzem, R. L.; Miller, E. G.; Pike, L. M.; Patil, B. S. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2005, 53, 2009.
- (65) Morelló, J.-R.; Vuorela, S.; Romero, M.-P.; Motilva, M.-J.; Heinonen, M. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2005, 53, 2002.
- (66) Bao, J.; Cai, Y.; Sun, M.; Wang, G.; Corke, H. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2005, 53, 2327.
- (67) Cioffi, G.; D'Auria, M.; Braca, A.; Mendez, J.; Castillo, A.; Morelli, I.; Simone, F. D.; Tommasi, N. D. J. Nat. Prod. 2002, 65, 1526.
- (68) Stojanoić, S.; Brede, O. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2002, 4, 757.
- (69) Huang, Y.; Yu, X.; Zhao, H.; Guo, J.; Sun, S.; Gong, Y.; Li, Y. *Chin. J. Biomed. Eng.* **1999**, *18*, 49.
- (70) Zhu, B.-Z.; Kitrossky, N.; Chevion, M. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2000, 270, 942.
- (71) Gutteridge, J. M. C.; Rowley, D. A.; Halliwell, B. Biochem. J. 1981, 199, 263.
- (72) Alfassi, Z. B.; Schuler, R. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1985, 89, 3359.

- (73) Aeschbach, R.; Loliger, J.; Scott, B. C.; Murcia, A.; Butler, J.; Halliwell, B.; Aruoma, O. I. Food Chem. Toxicol. 1994, 32, 31.
- (74) Różanowska, M.; Cantrell, A.; Edge, R.; Land, E. J.; Sarna, T.; Truscott, T. G. Free Radical Biol. Med. 2005, 39, 1399.
- (75) Zhao, Y.; Qian, S.; Yu, W.; Xue, Z.; Shen, H.; Yao, S.; Wang, D. Food Chem. 2002, 77, 209.
- (76) Re, R.; Pellegrini, N.; Proteggente, A.; Pannala, A.; Yang, M.; Rice-Evans, C. *Free Radical Biol. Med.* **1999**, *26*, 1231.
- (77) Scott, S. L.; Chen, W.-J.; Babac, A.; Espenson, J. H. J. Phys. Chem. 1993, 97, 6710.
- (78) Beer, D. D.; Joubert, E.; Gelderblom, W. C. A.; Manley, M. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2003, 51, 902.
- (79) Erel, O. Clin. Biochem. 2004, 37, 277.
- (80) Arts, M. J. T. J.; Haenen, G. R. M. M.; Voss, H.-P.; Bast, A. Food Chem. Toxicol. 2004, 42, 45.
- (81) Iveković, D.; Milardović, S.; Roboz, M.; Grabarić, B. S. Analyst 2005, 130, 708.
- (82) Hotta, H.; Nagano, S.; Ueda, M.; Tsujino, Y.; Koyama, J.; Osakai, T. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2002, 1572, 123.
- (83) Moon, J.-H.; Terao, J. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1998, 46, 5062.
- (84) Tiwari, A. K.; Srinivas, P. V.; Kumar, S. P.; Rao, J. M. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2001, 49, 4642.
- (85) Philpott, M.; Gould, K. S.; Lim, C.; Ferguson, L. R. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2004, 52, 1511.
- (86) Jiménez-Escrig, A.; Jiménez-Jiménez, I.; Sánchez-Moreno, C.; Saura-Calixto, F. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2000, 80, 1686.
- (87) Menichetti, S. M.; Aversa, M. C.; Cimino, F.; Contini, A.; Viglianisi, C.; Tomaino, A. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 3066.
- (88) Litwinienko, G.; Ingold, K. U. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 5888.
- (89) Litwinienko, G.; Ingold, K. U. Acc. Chem. Res. 2007, 40, 222
- (90) Abraham, M. H.; Grellier, P. L.; Prior, D. V.; Taft, R. W.; Morris, J. J.; Taylor, P. J.; Laurence, C.; Berthelot, M.; Doherty, R. M.; Kamlet, M. J.; Abboud, J. L. M.; Sraidi, K.; Guiheneuf, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1988**, 110, 8534.
- (91) Shi, H.; Niki, E. Lipids 1998, 33, 365.
- (92) Shi, H.; Noguchi, N.; Niki, E. Free Radical Biol. Med. 1999, 27, 334.
- (93) Havenith, R. W. A.; de Wijs, G. A.; Attema, J. J.; Niermann, N.; Speller, S.; de Groot, R. A. J. Phys. Chem. A 2008, 112, 7734.
- (94) Boozer, C. E.; Hammond, G. S.; Hamilton, C. E.; Sen, J. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77, 3233.
- (95) Ingold, K. U. Chem. Rev. 1961, 61, 563.
- (96) Liu, Z.-Q. J. Phys. Chem. A 2006, 110, 6372.
- (97) Jia, Z.-S.; Zhou, B.; Yang, L.; Wu, L.-M.; Liu, Z.-L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1998, 911.
- (98) Fang, J.-G.; Lu, M.; Chen, Z.-H.; Li, Y.; Zhu, H.-H.; Yang, L.; Wu, L.-M.; Liu, Z.-L. Chem.-Eur. J. 2002, 8, 4191.
- (99) Porter, N. A.; Wujek, D. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 2626.
- (100) Kranenburg, M. K.; Ciriano, M. V.; Cherkasov, A.; Mulder, P. J. Phys. Chem. A 2000, 104, 915.
- (101) Tallman, K. A.; Pratt, D. A.; Porter, N. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 11827.
- (102) Spiteller, G.; Spiteller, D.; Jira, W.; Kiessling, U.; Dudda, A.; Weisser, M.; Hecht, S.; Schwarz, C. Age and age-dependent diseases, a consequence of lipid peroxidation? In *Peroxide Chemistry, Mechanistic and Preparative Aspects of Oxygen Transfer*, Adam, W., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, Germany, 2005, p 179.
- (103) Freyaldenhoven, M. A.; Lehman, P. A.; Franz, T. J.; Lloyd, R. V.; Samokyszyn, V. M. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* **1998**, *11*, 102.
- (104) Tesoriere, L.; D'Arpa, D.; Re, R.; Livrea, M. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1997, 343, 13.
- (105) Liu, Z.-Q.; Shan, H.-Y. Cell Biochem. Biophys. 2006, 45, 185.
- (106) Barclay, L. R. C.; Ingold, K. U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1980, 102, 7794.
- (107) Zhou, B.; Miao, Q.; Yang, L.; Liu, Z.-L. Chem.-Eur. J. 2005, 11, 680.
- (108) Foti, M. C.; Sortino, S.; Ingold, K. U. Chem.-Eur. J. 2005, 11, 1942.
- (109) Foti, M. C.; Ingold, K. U. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2003, 51, 2758.
- (110) Nishiyama, T.; Ohnishi, J.; Hashiguchi, Y. Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem. 2001, 65, 1127.
- (111) Li, M.; Suzuki, E.; Kurata, T. Biosci., Biotechnol., Biochem. 2001, 65, 599.
- (112) Liu, Z.-Q. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 2006, 19, 136.
- (113) Darley-Usmar, V. M.; Hersey, A.; Garland, L. G. Biochem. Pharmacol. 1989, 38, 1465.
- (114) Klatt, P.; Esterbauer, H. J. Cardiovasc. Risk 1996, 3, 346.
- (115) Liu, Z.-Q.; Ma, L.-P.; Zhou, B.; Yang, L.; Liu, Z.-L. Chem. Phys.
- *Lipids* **2000**, *106*, 53. (116) Yu, W.; Liu, Z.-Q.; Liu, Z.-L. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 **1999**, 969.
- (117) Bowry, V. W.; Ingold, K. U.; Stocker, R. *Biochem. J.* **1992**, 288, 341.
- (118) Bowry, V. W.; Mohr, D.; Cleary, J.; Stocker, R. J. Biol. Chem. 1995, 270, 5756.
- (119) Bowry, V. W.; Stocker, R. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 6029.
- (120) Waldeck, A. R.; Stocker, R. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 1996, 9, 954.

- (121) Jialal, I.; Vega, G. L.; Grundy, S. M. *Atherosclerosis* 1990, 82, 185.
   (122) Lass, A.; Witting, A. L.; Stocker, R.; Esterbauer, H. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1996, *1303*, 111.
- (123) Dahle, L. K.; Hill, E. G.; Holman, R. T. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1962, 98, 253.
- (124) Liu, Z.-Q.; Ma, L.-P.; Liu, Z.-L. Chem. Phys. Lipids 1998, 95, 49.
- (125) Chung, B. H.; Wilkinson, T.; Geer, I. C.; Segrest, J. P. J. Lipid Res. 1980, 21, 284.
- (126) Johnson, P.; Grossman, L. I. Biochemistry 1977, 16, 4217.
- (127) Inouye, S. FEBS J. 1984, 172, 231.
- (128) Wei, Q.-Y.; Zhou, B.; Cai, Y.-J.; Yang, L.; Liu, Z.-L. Food Chem. **2006**, *96*, 90.
- (129) Zheng, L.-F.; Dai, F.; Zhou, B.; Yang, L.; Liu, Z.-L. Food Chem. Toxicol. 2008, 46, 149.
- (130) Bertoncini, C. R. A.; Meneghini, R. Nucleic Acids Res. 1995, 23, 2995.
- (131) Guo, B.; Yuan, Y.; Wu, Y.; Xie, Q.; Yao, S. Anal. Biochem. 2002, 305, 139.
- (132) Nomura, Y.; Fuchigami, H.; Kii, H.; Feng, Z.; Nakamura, T.; Kinjo, M. Anal. Biochem. 2006, 350, 196.
- (133) Lodovici, M.; Menichetti, S.; Viglianisi, C.; Caldini, S.; Giuliani, E. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2006, 16, 1957.
- (134) Lewis, J. G.; Stewart, W.; Adams, D. O. Cancer Res. 1988, 48, 4762.
- (135) Li, Y.; Trush, M. A. Carcinogenesis 1993, 14, 1303.
- (136) Ohkuma, Y.; Kawanishi, S. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 2001, 389, 49.
  (137) Darkwa, J.; Mundoma, C.; Simoyi, R. H. J. Chem. Soc., Faraday
- *Trans.* **1998**, *94*, 1971. (138) Reed, C. J.; Douglas, K. T. *Biochem. J.* **1991**, *275*, 601.
- (139) Janicek, M. F.; Haseltine, W. A.; Henner, W. D. Nucleic Acids Res. 1985, 13, 9011.
- (140) Zhang, P.; Omaye, S. T. Food Chem. Toxicol. 2001, 39, 239.
- (141) Zhao, F.; Liu, Z.-Q.; Wu, D. Chem. Phys. Lipids 2008, 151, 77.
- (142) Gedde, M. M.; Yang, E.; Huestis, W. H. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1999, 1417, 246.
- (143) Ivanov, I. T. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1999, 1415, 349.
- (144) Thomas, M. J.; Pang, K.; Chen, Q.; Lyles, D.; Hantgan, R.; Waite,
- M. Biochim. Biophys. Acta **1999**, 1417, 144. (145) May, J. M.; Qu, Z.-C.; Mendiratta, S. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. **1998**,
- 349, 281. (146) Moore, D. J.; Gioioso, S.; Sills, R. H.; Mendelsohn, R. *Biochim*.
- Biophys. Acta 1999, 1415, 342.
  (147) Niki, E.; Komuro, E.; Takahashi, M.; Urano, S.; Ito, E.; Terao, K. J. Biol. Chem. 1988, 263, 19809.
- (148) Sato, Y.; Kamo, S.; Takahashi, T.; Suzuki, Y. *Biochemistry* **1995**, 34, 8940.
- (149) Richards, D. M. C.; Dean, R. T.; Jessup, W. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1988, 946, 281.
- (150) Lim, S. N.; Cheung, P. C. K.; Ooi, V. E. C.; Ang, P. O. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2002, 50, 3862.
- (151) Nakamura, T.; Ogasawara, M.; Koyama, I.; Nemoto, M.; Yoshida, T. Biol. Pharm. Bull. **1993**, *16*, 970.
- (152) Sun, J.; He, H.; Xie, B. J. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2004, 52, 6646.
- (153) Rondini, L.; Peyrat-Maillard, M.-N.; Marsset-Baglieri, A.; Fromentin, G.; Durand, P.; Tomé, D.; Prost, M.; Berset, C. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2004, 52, 4338.
- (154) Tang, Y.-Z.; Liu, Z.-Q. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 2006, 58, 625.
- (155) Tang, Y.-Z.; Liu, Z.-Q. Cell Biochem. Funct. 2007, 25, 149.
- (156) Tang, Y.-Z.; Liu, Z.-Q. Cell Biochem. Funct. 2007, 25, 701.
- (157) Tang, Y.-Z.; Liu, Z.-Q. Cell Biochem. Funct. 2008, 26, 185.
- (158) Ali, I.; Naseem, I. Life Sci. 2002, 70, 2013.
- (159) Wang, F.; Wang, T.; Lai, J.; Li, M.; Zou, C. Biochem. Pharmacol. 2006, 71, 799.
- (160) Li, G.-X.; Liu, Z.-Q. Food Chem. Toxicol. 2008, 46, 886.
- (161) Kurisawa, M.; Chung, J. E.; Uyama, H.; Kobayashi, S. Chem. Commun. 2004, 294.
- (162) Thomas, C. E.; Ohlweiler, D. F.; Kalyanaraman, B. J. Biol. Chem. 1994, 269, 28055.
- (163) Zhou, B.; Chen, Z.; Chen, Y.; Jia, Z.; Jia, Y.; Zeng, L.; Wu, L.; Yang, L.; Liu, Z.-L. Appl. Magn. Reson. 2000, 18, 397.
- (164) Lü, J.-M.; Rosokha, S. V.; Lindeman, S. V.; Neretin, I. S.; Kochi, J. K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 1797.
- (165) da Silva, G.; Kim, C.-H.; Bozzelli, J. W. J. Phys. Chem. A 2006, 110, 7925.
- (166) Lithoxoidou, A. T.; Bakalbassis, E. G. J. Phys. Chem. A 2005, 109, 366.
- (167) Lucarini, M.; Pedrielli, P.; Pedulli, G. F.; Valgimigli, L.; Gigmes, D.; Tordo, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 11546.
- (168) Li, G.-X.; Liu, Z.-Q.; Wu, D. J. Phys. Org. Chem. 2009, 22, 883.
- (169) Denisov, E. T. Kinet. Catal. 2000, 41, 293.
- (170) Stubbe, J.; Nocera, D. G.; Yee, C. S.; Chang, M. C. Y. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 2167.

### CR900302X